HashiCorp

From zero to hero with HashiCorp Boundary



WHITE PAPER

Boundary takes a platform-engineering approach to secure remote access. Learn how to create a Boundary cluster from scratch and build a secure infrastructure access workflow that helps you realize its value.

Contents

Introduction
How Boundary works
Setting the stage
Create an HCP Boundary cluster
Deploy the infrastructure with terraform
Install the self-managed workers
Configure the ingress worker
Configure the egress worker
Create a target configuration
Use transparent sessions (private beta)
Connect to Boundary from an end-user's perspective
Learn more about Boundary
About HashiCorp

Introduction

HashiCorp Boundary is a tool that simplifies and secures remote access to systems and applications. It gives administrators fine-grained access control without the need to manage complex network configurations or expose sensitive credentials. It also streamlines the process of granting and revoking access, making it easier for organizations to protect their critical infrastructure.

Boundary differs from traditional solutions in this space, such as jump-boxes, bastion hosts, or VPNs, because it does not need any ingress firewall (NAT) rules or a bastion host (which also exposes the destination host). Instead, it needs only egress access to an upstream worker.

This post shows how to set up Boundary from scratch and configure a complete remote access workflow that even someone with no Boundary knowledge whatsoever can use.

Boundary is available in three editions:

- · Community edition: Free and source-available
- · Boundary Enterprise: The self-managed, on-premises commercial version with enterprise features
- HCP Boundary: A SaaS version of Boundary available on the HashiCorp Cloud Platform (HCP)

This post uses HCP Boundary in order to get up and running faster than the on-premises versions. The tutorial uses code from the hcp-boundary-demo GitHub repository to provision Boundary and some Microsoft Azure infrastructure for the demo using HashiCorp Terraform.

How Boundary works

Boundary allows traffic to flow to private subnets without actually having to open up ingress traffic on the private subnet. Boundary's traffic flows are even more flexible in Boundary Enterprise and HCP Boundary, where you can use a process called **multi-hop sessions** with **self-managed workers**. Put simply, after setting up these features, HCP Boundary will redirect your connection to a public ingress worker while the egress worker connects back to that ingress worker with only outbound traffic needed.

In a sense, this follows the security principles of smart-home devices. For instance, you wouldn't need to set up a personal firewall to access Philips Hue smart lights from outside of your home or to access your P1 smart energy meter from across the country.

Setting the stage



This diagram of the final system's architecture shows how it works:

The system includes:

- HCP Boundary
- Two worker VMs, one dealing with ingress traffic, the other egress only (labeled "ingress worker" and "egress worker")
- Four server VMs, three of them Linux (a different Linux distribution for each one denoted by the corner logos) and one of them Windows

Note that both the egress worker and the server VMs are not publicly accessible (that means no ingress traffic is possible). They are allowed to receive traffic only within the same private subnet and to emit egress traffic to the internet. This is a key security layer of Boundary that traditional access methods (VPNs, jump-boxes, and bastion hosts) don't support.

Also note that this tutorial uses only server1 as an SSH target, but feel free to experiment with HTTP (server3 has a web server installed) and RDP on server4 as well as host sets.

This tutorial uses the HCP Boundary UI for most tasks. This makes it easier to understand the steps, since a CLI tutorial would require memorizing a lot of IDs along the way.

Create an HCP Boundary cluster

To create an HCP Boundary cluster, navigate to the HCP Portal and log in.



If you have not yet created an account, do so now. During this process you will be asked to create an organization. Within that organization you can create multiple projects. In the example screenshot below, the project is called MediumRare. Whatever you name your project, select that project from the dropdown menu, then click on the "Get started with Boundary" link shown in the image:

From there, click on "Deploy Boundary".



Then select the standard tier and supply a username and password for the main administrator account. After that, click "Deploy" and you will have a Boundary cluster within minutes.

stance name is name will be used as part of the URL that	developers use to connect to this instance.	
oundary-cluster		
oose a tier recommend the Standard tier for most proc	luction clusters.	
Standard Identity-based access without exposing your private network. © Enterprise SLA Multi-hop workers for access to targets in private networks O Dynamic host catalogs Audit logs	Plus New! Monitor and record user activity for security and compliance at scale. All Standard features SSH Session recordings	
0	0	
reate an administrator acco is will be the account you use to first configuername hris	unt re Boundary. You will then be able to enable a different authentio	cation method that your team will u
ssword		
	9 . (0)	

After a short wait, you should see a green checkmark next to the status. From there you can continue and click on "Open Admin UI". Fill in the administrator credentials and proceed to "Sign In". On the screen that asks if you have a target to test, click "Do this later".

That's it for now. You will return to Boundary through the HCP Boundary control plane (also called the Boundary UI) when you need to set up workers and your environment.

Deploy the infrastructure with Terraform

After the Boundary cluster is created, you can deploy the demo infrastructure from the GitHub repository hcp-boundary-demo. Run these commands:

```
terraform init
terraform plan
terraform apply
```

After a few minutes, Terraform will deploy your infrastructure within Microsoft Azure. When the run is completed successfully, the system will return information to will help you set up your environment for Boundary:

Apply complete! Resources: 28 added, 0 changed, 0 destroyed.
Outputs:
vm-server01 = "serveradmina100.0.1.6"
vm-server02 = "serveradmina100.0.1.4"
vm-server03 = "serveradmina100.0.1.8"
vm-server04 = "serveradmina100.0.1.5"
vm-server04-password = <sensitive></sensitive>
vm-worker-egress = "boundary@100.0.1.7"
<pre>vm-worker-ingress = "boundarya20.8.112.156"</pre>

Remember that from these deployed VMs, only the ingress worker will be accessible through a public IP address shown in the Terraform output.

Note: All of the IP addresses, tokens, and URLs in this demo have been destroyed before publishing this post

Install the self-managed workers

Connections within Boundary are processed by workers. By default, you get two HCP managed workers deployed with your Boundary cluster. But for this exercise, you'll use your own installed workers to set up the connections to your private subnet.

Configure the ingress worker

Log into the newly installed ingress worker via SSH:

```
> ssh boundarya20.8.112.156
The authenticity of host '20.8.112.156 (20.8.112.156)' can't be established.
ED25519 key fingerprint is SHA256:73T5ofwyLDEzyQB0jvsS0sXz6sd4jwG8dAC08nUo6hQ.
This key is not known by any other names.
Are you sure you want to continue connecting (yes/no/[fingerprint])? yes
Warning: Permanently added '20.8.112.156' (ED25519) to the list of known hosts.
Welcome to Ubuntu 22.04.4 LTS (GNU/Linux 6.5.0-1021-azure x86_64)
* Documentation: https://help.ubuntu.com
* Management:
               https://landscape.canonical.com
* Support:
            https://ubuntu.com/pro
System information as of Tue Jun 11 09:28:09 UTC 2024
System load: 0.12
                               Processes:
                                             103
Usage of /: 5.1% of 28.89GB Users logged in:
                                                      Θ
Memory usage: 30%
                               IPv4 address for eth0: 10.0.1.4
Swap usage: 0%
Expanded Security Maintenance for Applications is not enabled.
0 updates can be applied immediately.
Enable ESM Apps to receive additional future security updates.
See https://ubuntu.com/esm or run: sudo pro status
The list of available updates is more than a week old.
```



Next, install the boundary-enterprise package. This installs the Boundary binary capable of connecting to HCP Boundary and Boundary Enterprise.



The next step involves creating a configuration file for the ingress worker. For this, you need two pieces of information:

- 1. Your HCP Boundary cluster ID
- 2. The public IP address of your ingress worker

For the HCP Boundary cluster ID, navigate to the HCP Boundary control plane. In the left pane, choose "Workers" and then in the right pane click on "New".

Global 🗸						@ chris
	Workers					
Orgs	Workers ?					New
AliasesWorkers	Tags ¥					🖒 Refresh
뽔 Users	Worker	Tags	Sessions	Release Version	IP Address	ID
原 Groups	hcp-managed-worker-0	🛇 1 tag	0	Boundary v0.16.0+ent	4fa53fa7-1291-4e75-f04e-075cd466fb53.proxy.boundary.hashicorp.cloud:9202	w_NdnBI7xXKC 💽
Roles		🛇 1 tag		Boundary v0.16.0+ent	de530b53-2027-1d58-7604-b6773ec38519.proxy.boundary.hashicorp.cloud:9202	w_xoWtH7a92J 💽
Auth Methods		🛇 2 tags		Boundary v0.16.1+ent	20.8.112.156:9202	w_6aENHZkUEp 🖹

In the form, you will be greeted with your Boundary cluster ID. Copy this into a text editor and leave the "New PKI Worker" in the background.

The ingress worker has a public IP address and is available from the HCP Boundary control plane. For the public IP address of your ingress worker, you can either exit out of your SSH connection and repeat your last command and copy the IP address from that, or go back to the Terraform directory and issue a terraform output and copy the public IP address from there.

Now, with the cluster ID and IP address, you can create an ingress worker configuration. Use the command below to load the configuration from the demo repository:

```
> sudo tee /etc/boundary.d/ingress-worker.hcl > /dev/null << EOF
disable_mlock = true
hcp_boundary_cluster_id = "6a0ca1ac-8c75-47eb-8819-cc180d949f7e"
listener "tcp" {
   address = "0.0.0.0:9202"
   purpose = "proxy"
}
worker {
   public_addr = "20.8.112.156"
   auth_storage_path = "/opt/boundary/ingress-worker"
   tags {
     type = ["ingress"]
   }
EOF</pre>
```

Next, create a systemd unit file to make sure that the worker is started automatically in the background:

```
> sudo tee /usr/lib/systemd/system/boundary-worker.service > /dev/null << EOF</pre>
[Unit]
Description=Boundary Worker Service
Wants=network-online.target
After=network-online.target
[Service]
User=boundary
Group=boundary
Type=simple
ExecStart=/usr/bin/boundary server -config="/etc/boundary.d/ingress-worker.hcl"
[Install]
WantedBy=multi-user.target
EOF
> sudo systemctl daemon-reload
> sudo systemctl enable --now boundary-worker
Created symlink /etc/systemd/system/multi-user.target.wants/boundary-worker.
service → /lib/systemd/system/boundary-worker.service.
```

Check the output of the service to get another critical piece of information, the "Worker Auth Registration Request".



vm-worker-ingress boundary[3201]:	Log Level:	info
vm-worker-ingress boundary[3201]: supported: true, enabled: false	Mlock:	
vm-worker-ingress boundary[3201]: v0.16.1+ent	Version:	Boundary
vm-worker-ingress boundary[3201]: bcf9720aabbe27a5bced2fff22c1469fd156e433	Version Sha:	
vm-worker-ingress boundary[3201]: rule-snuggle-monthly-swipe-mooned-vanity-	Worker Auth Current Key Id: calzone	justness-
vm-worker-ingress boundary[3201]: Worke	r Auth Registration Request:	

Copy the Worker Auth Current Key Id: token, head back to the Boundary UI, and in the "New PKI Worker" screen, scroll all the way down and paste that token into the field called "Worker Auth Registration Request" and then click "Register Worker".

3. Confirm the worker when they connect	
Worker Auth Registration Request Required The registration key provided by this worker when it started	
eq:scyzoFskipJQfso2ZczGzgz91jsMhdqxJQ6HztweszJHyJhMdi9LcKBacQqnN6VwHX4waSKW5Jqk7ETGdprotected and the scycle of the scy	Register Worker
	争

You should receive a "Registered successfully" message. After that, click on "Done". Navigate back to the Workers overview page where you can see the new worker. Click on the blue underlined link to go to the new worker.

Global ~						② chris ~
	Workers					
Corgs	Workers 🤊					New
AliasesWorkers	Tags 🗸					🖒 Refresh
뽔 Users	Worker	Tags	Sessions	Release Version	IP Address	D
顾 Groups	hcp-managed-worker-0	🖏 1 tag	0	Boundary v0.16.0+ent	4fa53fa7-1291-4e75-f04e-075cd466fb53.proxy.boundary.hashicorp.cloud:9202	w_NdnBI7xXKC 💽
Roles		🔊 1 tag		Boundary v0.16.0+ent	de530b53-2027-1d58-7604-b6773ec38519.proxy.boundary.hashicorp.cloud:9202	w_xoWtH7a92J 🔃
Auth Methods	W_6aENHZKUEp	🛇 2 tags		Boundary v0.16.1+ent	20.8.112.156:9202	w_6aENHZkUEp 😰

It's easier to remember what each worker is used for if you give them informative names. So on that page for the new worker, click on the button called "Edit Form" at the bottom and give this worker the name "worker-ingress" and then click "Save".

And with that, you've configured the ingress worker. You can safely log out of the SSH session connected to the ingress worker, since you won't need that anymore.

Configuring the egress worker

The process for the egress worker is similar: Install the package, create a configuration, create a systemd unit file, and then enable and start the service. However, since this egress worker is accessible only within the private subnet, you have to configure it through the Azure serial console.

Log into your Azure portal, navigate to your resource group (by default it's called rg-boundary), and you will get an overview of the created resources:

Microsoft Azure	,P Search resources, services, and docs (G+/)		E 0 © 0 R	c.v.meer@atcomputing
Home >				
rg-boundary 🖋 🖈				
	🕂 Create 🛞 Manage view 🗸 🔋 Delete resource group 🔘 Refresh 🔮 Export to CSV 😽 Open qu	ery ∅ Assign tags → Move ~ 🗐 Delete	🛓 Export template 🛛 Open in	mobile
(Overview				
Activity log				
Access control (IAM)	Subscription ID :	Location : West Europe		
🧳 Tags	Tags (edit) : Add tags			
A Resource visualizer				
🗲 Events	Resources Recommendations (2)			
Settings	Filter for any field. Type equals all X Location equals all X ⁴ 7 Add filter			
Deployments	Showing 1 to 23 of 23 records. Show hidden types ()		No grouping	✓ 💷 List view 🗸
Security	🔲 Name 🗇	Туре ↑↓	Location ↑↓	
Deployment stacks	🔲 🛢 disk-os-server01	Disk	West Europe	
Policies	🔲 😂 disk-os-server02	Disk	West Europe	
Properties		Disk	West Europe	
🔒 Locks	🔲 🖀 disk-os-server04	Disk	West Europe	
Cost Management	🔲 😂 disk-os-worker-egress	Disk	West Europe	
S. Cost analysis	Se disk-os-worker-ingress	Disk	West Europe	
Cost alerts (preview)	📄 🚍 ip-worker-ingress	Public IP address	West Europe	
8 Budgets	📄 📓 nic-server01	Network Interface	West Europe	
Advisor recommendations	Server02	Network Interface	West Europe	
Monitoring	🔲 🔛 nic-server03	Network Interface	West Europe	
💡 Insights (preview)	🔲 🔚 nic-server04	Network Interface	West Europe	
III Alerts	🗌 📓 nic-worker-egress	Network Interface	West Europe	
🕍 Metrics	🔲 📓 nic-worker ingress	Network Interface	West Europe	
Diagnostic settings	🔲 💗 risg-boundary	Network security group	West Europe	
🧬 Logs	🔲 🚍 storagepgf8qh546f	Storage account	West Europe	
Advisor recommendations	🔲 🌉 vm-server01	Virtual machine	West Europe	
Workbooks	🔲 🖳 vm-server02	Virtual machine	West Europe	
Automation	🔲 🐺 vm-server03	Virtual machine	West Europe	
Export template	🔲 🖳 vm-server04	Virtual machine	West Europe	
	Vm-worker-egress	Virtual machine	West Europe	
нер	vm-worker-ingress	Virtual machine	West Europe	
Ø Support + Troubleshooting	→ vnet-private	Virtual network	West Europe	
		Virtual network	West Europe	
	<pre>crrenous Page v orb Next></pre>			

Navigate to the "vm-worker-egress" resource and, in the left pane, scroll all the way down to "Reset password". For ease of use, choose the "Reset password" mode. Keep the username boundary and choose a new password for this user. Then hit the "Update" button:

Home > vm-worker-egress		
trial machine vm-worker-egress	Reset password * ···	
Search « Identity Microsoft Defender for Cloud	This uses the VMAccessForLinux extension to reset the credentials of an existing user or create a new user with sudo privileges, and reset the SSH configuration. Learn more	
Backup + disaster recovery	Mode V U	
💣 Backup	○ Add SSH public key	
🂣 Disaster recovery	Reset configuration only	
Restore point	Username * 🛈	
0	boundary	
Auto-shutdown	Password ®	
Dura command	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Kun command	Confirm password *	
🔅 Updates	······	Password and confirmation fields must match.
💐 Health monitoring		

It will take a couple of seconds for Azure to reset the password for the user. Once that is done, in the left pane scroll down until you see "Serial console". Click on that and you will be greeted with a terminal. You will see a lot of information about started services and some SSH keys. Hit Enter a few times to get a clear prompt and then log in with the username boundary and the password you just created in the previous step:



In that terminal, first type in sudo -i. Then type in the password you created. Your prompt will now say root@vm-worker-egress. Type exit and hit Enter. The reason for this is because the commands that you will be applying to this console will use privileged access through sudo, but in the Azure serial console you will not see a password prompt during the installation tasks. Those steps will get ahead of this potential issue.

After that, follow the same process as setting up the ingress worker, though the configuration is slightly different and you need only one piece of information: the public IP address of the ingress worker.

First, install the package by pasting this code into the Azure serial console:

> wget -0- https://apt.releases.hashicorp.com/gpg | gpg --dearmor | sudo tee / usr/share/keyrings/hashicorp-archive-keyring.gpg >/dev/null > echo "deb [signed-by=/usr/share/keyrings/hashicorp-archive-keyring.gpg] https://apt.releases.hashicorp.com \$(lsb_release -cs) main" | sudo tee /etc/ apt/sources.list.d/hashicorp.list > sudo apt update && sudo apt install -y boundary-enterprise

Your console will probably overlap after this — hit Ctrl+L to clear the console screen.

After that, create the egress worker configuration:

```
> sudo tee /etc/boundary.d/egress-worker.hcl > /dev/null << EOF
disable_mlock = true
listener "tcp" {
  address = "0.0.0.0:9203"
  purpose = "proxy"
}
worker {
  initial_upstreams = ["20.8.112.156:9202"]
  auth_storage_path = "/opt/boundary/egress-worker"</pre>
```

tags {		
type = ["egress"]		
}		
}		
EOF		

Then create the service and start it. If you copied the command from the ingress worker, be sure to change the config file reference.

```
> sudo tee /usr/lib/systemd/system/boundary-worker.service > /dev/null << EOF
[Unit]
Description=Boundary Worker Service
Wants=network-online.target
After=network-online.target
[Service]
User=boundary
Group=boundary
Type=simple
ExecStart=/usr/bin/boundary server -config="/etc/boundary.d/egress-worker.hcl"
[Install]
WantedBy=multi-user.target
EOF
> sudo systemctl daemon-reload
> sudo systemctl enable --now boundary-worker
```

Just like with the ingress controller, grab the worker auth registration request token and copy that onto your clipboard:

```
> journalct1 -u boundary-worker | head -n 10
vm-worker-egress systemd[1]: Started Boundary Worker Service.
vm-worker-egress boundary[2437]: ==> Boundary server configuration:
vm-worker-egress boundary[2437]:
                                                                Cqo: disabled
vm-worker-eqress boundary[2437]:
                                                         Listener 1: tcp (addr:
"0.0.0.0:9203", max_request_duration: "1m30s", purpose:
                                                        "proxy")
vm-worker-egress boundary[2437]:
                                                          Log Level: info
vm-worker-egress boundary[2437]:
                                                              Mlock: supported:
true, enabled: false
vm-worker-egress boundary[2437]:
                                                            Version: Boundary
v0.16.1+ent
vm-worker-egress boundary[2437]:
                                                        Version Sha:
bcf9720aabbe27a5bced2fff22c1469fd156e433
vm-worker-eqress boundary[2437]:
                                         Worker Auth Current Key Id: diabetic-
concise-turbine-daylight-colossal-cornball-petal-wanting
vm-worker-eqress boundary[2437]: Worker Auth Registration Request:
```

With this copied, go back to the Boundary UI again to register the egress worker. Just like the last time, click on "Workers", then "New", scroll all the way down, and paste this registration request into the input field and click on "Register Worker". Once this is done and you get a successfully added message, click on "Done" and exit out of the Azure serial console (make a habit of logging out of the console first). Rename the egress worker like you did with the ingress worker.

Workers / worker-egress
Worker 🕐
Workers are the server components that perform the session handling.
w_VOZmCnNcnA 🗈
Details
Name (Optional) Name for identification purposes
worker-egress
Description (Optional) Description for identification purposes
worker tags Boundary can use tags to define key-value pairs which targets can use to determine where they should route connections.
type egress
Address
0.0.0.0:9203 URL and port for this worker.
Last Seen
13 seconds ago, Jun 11, 2024 at 12:13 PM GMT+2
Last time the worker reported status.
Release Version
Boundary v0.16.1+ent
The version of the Boundary binary the worker is running.
Save Cancel

You see that even though the egress worker is not publicly accessible, HCP Boundary can still communicate with the worker. Both workers are now set up:

Workers					
Workers 🕐					New
Tags 🗸					🖒 Refresh
Worker	Tags	Sessions	Release Version	IP Address	ID
	🖏 1 tag	0	Boundary v0.16.0+ent	4fa53fa7-1291-4e75-f04e-075cd466fb53.proxy.boundary.hashicorp.cloud:9202	w_NdnBI7xXKC 📴
	🛇 1 tag		Boundary v0.16.0+ent	de530b53-2027-1d58-7604-b6773ec38519.proxy.boundary.hashicorp.cloud:9202	w_xoWtH7a92J 📴
	🛇 1 tag		Boundary v0.16.1+ent	0.0.0:9203	w_VOZmCnNcnA 📴
	🟷 1 tag		Boundary v0.16.1+ent	20.8.112.156:9202	w_6aENHZkUEp 🔀

Create a target configuration

The next step is to configure HCP Boundary with your desired target configuration. But first, you have to create an Org and a Project.

On the left pane, click on "Orgs" and then click on "New". Fill in a name and click on "Save". After that, you will see a button appear on the left pane called "Projects". Click on this and from there click on "New", fill out a name and "Save". In this demo, the Org is named "MediumRare" and the project is named "Demo". You will end up with something like this.

K MediumRare × 88	Demo Y
	📾 MediumRare / 88 Demo
🚯 Orgs	Project ⑦
Projects	A project is a type of scope used to organize resources such as targets and host catalogs.
⊕ Sessions	p_qY6zqfnkzU 🔀
Targets	Details
Host Catalogs	
Credential Stores	Name (Optional) Name for identification purposes
লি Groups	Demo
Roles	Description (Optional) Description for identification purposes
Project Settings	
	Edit Form

Your targets will be the server VMs in the private subnet. The first task for setting up these targets is to generate credentials. The whole idea of HCP Boundary is separating the users from the backend credentials. Users should be able to authenticate to Boundary, and then Boundary can take care of the backend connection.

Ideally, your production Boundary setup will use HashiCorp Vault with credential injection from a KV store, or use Vault's SSH secrets engine. Vault offers many different secrets engines that provide dynamic credentials, which is significantly more secure and scalable, but to keep this demo simple the next section uses static credentials generated by Terraform during the deployment.

On the left pane, click on "Credential Stores". From there, click on "New", name it "Static credential store" with the type of "Static" and click "Save". In the next screen, click on the "Credentials" tab and click "New":

🗈 MediumRai	re / # Demo / Credential Stores / Static credential store
Credentia	al Store 🕐
A credential	store is a collection of credentials and credential libraries.
csst_Qk8Vy	oDin7 📴
Details	Credentials
Name (Option	nal)
Name for iden	tification purposes
Static crede	ential store
Description (Description fo	(Optional) r identification purposes
Туре	
Static	
	t uses static credentials, such as a username and password or key pair.
This host	

Name this credential "Serveradmin" and choose "Username & Key Pair" as its type. As soon as you click on that, you then can enter the relevant credentials.

In the Terraform directory you used to deploy the infrastructure, there resides a servers.pem file. Copy the contents of that file into the "SSH Private Key" field and make sure that the "Username" field says serveradmin. Leave the passphrase empty and click on "Save":

New Credential ? Credential resources like usernames and passwords. Jame (potional) Severadmin Description (Optional) Description for identification purposes Jump Username & Password Connect using the provided username and password. JSON Dassword. Type Username & Password Type Username & JSON blob containing the control in the content in the content in the content in the isotext in the content in the content in the content in the content in the isotext in	
Credentials are static resources like usernames and passwords. Name (optional) Serveradmin Description (Optional) Description for identification purposes Image: Contract static resources like usernames and passwords. Serveradmin Description (Optional) Description for identification purposes Image: Contract using the provided username and password Connect using the provided username and password. Optication Image: Connect using a Username & Key Pair Connect using a Username & Key Pair Connect using a Username and password. Image: Connect using a Username and private key. Image: Connect	
Name (Optional) Name for identification purposes Serveradmin Description (Optional) Description for identification purposes Type Username & Password Connect using the provided username and password. Sonnect using a Username, public key, and private key. Connect using a Username, public key, and private key. Username & Carpert Connect using a Username, public key, and private key. Username Sublic key.	
Name for identification purposes Serveradmin Description (Optional) Description for identification purposes Type Username & Password Connect using the provided username and password. JSON Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Username Username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
Serveradmin Description (Optional) Description for identification purposes Type Username & Password Connect using the provided username and password. Disconnect using a username, public key, and private key. Disconnect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Disconnect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Disconnect using a Username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
Description (Optional) Description for identification purposes Type Username & Password Onnect using the provided username and password. Onnect using a username, public key, and private key. JSON Onnect using a JSON blob containing the	
Type Username & Password Connect using the provided username and password. Onnect using a username, public key, and private key. Image: Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Image: Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Image: Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Image: Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Image: Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Image: Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Image: Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Image: Connect using a JSON blob containing the credential store.	
Type Username & Password Username & Key Pair Connect using the provided username and password. Connect using a username, public key, and private key. Image: Ima	
Type Username & Password Connect using the provided username and password. Omnect using a username, public key, and private key. JSON Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Username Username Username Username	
Type Username & Password Username & Key Pair Connect using the provided username and password. Connect using a username, public key, and private key. JSON Image: Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Username Username Username Username Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Image: Connect using a Username Username Connect using a Username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
Username & Password Connect using the provided username and password. Username & Key Pair Connect using a username, public key, and private key. JSON Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Username Username The username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
Username & Password Connect using the provided username and password. Username & Key Pair Connect using a username, public key, and private key. O O Username Username & Key Pair Connect using a username, public key, and private key. O Username Username bubble containing the credentials. Username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
Connect using the provided username and private key. Connect using a username, public key, and private key.	
O SON Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. O Username The username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
JSON Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Username The username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
JSON Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials. Username The username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
Connect using a JSON blob containing the credentials.	
Credentials. Username The username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
Username The username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
Username The username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
Username The username to use when connecting with this credential store.	
aanvaradmin	
SSH Private Key Required	
The private key to use when connecting with this credential store.	
13B8QrSbEcPBxZqNMMCnF+LupRWdleEMYC22m9MNP6ZiLMYAwpBCHYECe8UN18U6 s5Gmv2ex+X+a0WEqt/WzqDN0kI INtiekY4LavY9itEubLN II px8CXeMInTPIRE Ia	
0J0V+VZJvz50YZmwKgvk/iMcK6iG9/G03wRipuilZp78s8qG+ev10WCpolNq	
END RSA PRIVATE KEY	
Passphrase (Optional)	
	۲
Save	۲

Now you can create your target configuration. Click on "Targets" in the left pane and then click "New". Name it server1, select "SSH" as type, and for the "Target Address" go to the Terraform directory and issue a terraform output once more for the private IP address of server1. In this case, it should be 100.0.1.6.

That is the basic idea. Now comes the intricate bit. If you scroll down to the "Workers" section, you will see the ability to toggle an ingress worker filter and/or an egress worker filter.

Above those toggle switches you will see a representation of the connection flow. If neither of the worker filters are toggled, it would use an "HCP worker" to connect to your "Host" (target).



That is not what you want here, because this tutorial uses self-managed workers. So start by toggling the "Ingress worker filter". You will see the image change to use an "Ingress worker" to connect to the "Host":



Your ingress worker cannot access the host because it is not publicly accessible, but an egress worker is. So toggle the "Egress worker filter" and see how the image has changed:



The last step is to tell Boundary to use the specific workers you installed. Look back at the worker configuration files in /etc/boundary.d. There you'll see a certain tag specified in the demo code that can be used in your filters:

- The ingress worker filter is: "ingress" in "/tags/type"
- The egress worker filter is: "egress" in "/tags/type"

You can see these in the Workers section:

Workers (Optional)
You can customize how your workers route traffic to this target by setting up a filter that matches specific worker tags. If your target is in a private network, we recommend setting up an egress filter to specify a worker inside the network so that Boundary can access the host. Ingress and egress filters are allowed to select the same worker.
Private network
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Client Ingress Egress Host worker worker
In this configuration, the client will attempt to connect through any filtered ingress worker and reach the host through any filtered egress worker. Ingress worker filter Specify workers Boundary should use to start the route to this target. Filter (Optional) Boolean expression. Learn more
"ingress" in "/tags/type"
Egress worker filter Specify workers that have access to the target (such as within a private network).
Filter (Optional) Roolean expression Learn more
"elgress" in "/tags/type"

Click on "Save". The target has now been successfully created. Next, inject the credentials created earlier in this session. Click on the "Injected Application Credentials" tab in the Target section:

	are / 🎖 Demo / Ta	argets / server1		
Target ?				
A target is a	a logical collectio	in of host sets which may	y be used to initiate sessions.	
tssh_D1K91	rFWtb7 📴			
Details	Host Sources	Brokered Credentials	Injected Application Credentials	
Name Requi	uired ntification purposes			
server1				
Description fo	r identification purp	ioses		
				/
Type SSH Protocol	-aware SSH with su	oport for credential injection.		
Type SSH Protocol Target Addro Must be a vali	I-aware SSH with su ess (Optional) id IP address or DNS	pport for credential injection.	ng this blank and using host catalogs and host sets instead if you want to use this target on multip	e hosts.

From there, click "Add Injected Application Credentials" and check the box of the credential with the name "Serveradmin". Then click on "Add Injected Application Credentials".

A MediumRare / 🍔 Demo / Targets / server1 / Add Injected Application Credentials		
Add Injected Application Credential Sources		
Select injected Application credential sources to assign to this target.		
Add Injected Application Credentials Cancel		
D	Name	Туре
✓ credspk_DjZ0ulTHe1	Serveradmin	Username & Key Pair

Use transparent sessions (private beta)

The original way to connect to targets in Boundary is by typing boundary connect ssh -target-id <target_id> into the CLI or manually connecting through **Boundary Desktop**. Soon, there will be a new, even more convenient way to connect targets in Boundary: Transparent sessions.

This new abstraction removes the need for any user to have knowledge on how to use Boundary and lets users employ their own tools, such as a terminal with SSH, a browser with HTTP, or an RDP client to connect to a Windows host. It makes Boundary transparent to the user.

This feature, announced at HashiDays 2024, is a game changer for the user experience of Boundary.

As of July 2024, this feature is still in private beta. As a HashiCorp Ambassador, I was lucky enough to be invited to try out this new feature and I will share my findings thus far.

To use transparent sessions, you start by configuring an alias for your target. Go back to the Boundary UI, click on "Targets", and then click on "server1". On the right hand side (if your HCP Boundary cluster is version 0.16.0) you will see a section "Aliases" where you can click on "Add an alias":

局 MediumRare / ₩ Demo / Targets / server1	
Target ⑦	
A target is a logical collection of host sets which may be used to initiate sessions.	Manage 🗸
tssh_D1K9rFWtb7 🕃	
Details Host Sources Brokered Credentials Injected Application Credentials	
Name Required	
Name for identification purposes	Aliases
server1	Use a domain name as a shortcut for anyone with access to this target.
Description (Optional)	+ Add an alias
Description for identification purposes	

Connect to Boundary from an end-user's perspective

For the private beta I was supplied with a pre-release installer that installs the necessary Boundary components on my workstation:

• •	😺 Install Boundary
	Welcome to the Boundary Installer
Introduction	This will install Boundary on your computer. You will be guided through the store processor to install this software.
Licence	the steps necessary to instant this software.
Destination Select	Click "Continue" to continue the setup
Installation Type	
Installation	
Summary	
R	
	Go Back Contin



Make sure you select at least "Boundary Client Agent" to enable transparent sessions. Boundary client agent listens to requests and matches that against Boundary, and if there is a match, it routes the traffic through Boundary towards the target.



Now you need the fully qualified domain name (FQDN) of the Boundary Cluster. Go back to the Boundary UI and copy the URL in your browser up until the first /. In the demo, it is https://6a0ca1ac-8c75-47eb-8819-cc180d949f7e.boundary.hashicorp.cloud. You want to preserve this, so add this to your environment variables.



Next, issue a boundary authenticate or log into the Boundary Desktop app and enter your admin credentials (after getting set up, this could be a regular user account on Boundary). Then SSH into your alias, enter ssh server1 in your favorite terminal, and you're in.



As you can see, the user needs only to authenticate to Boundary, and if authorized, the user can access the target through Boundary. As part of the session connection, Boundary will inject the credentials without requiring users to handle or see credentials, reducing the chances of an exposure or leak.

Learn more about Boundary

In summary, this demo showed you how to:

- Set up HCP Boundary
- Create a testing environment
- Configure Boundary
- Use transparent sessions (private beta)

Together, that lets you configure a complete remote access workflow that people who don't know anything about Boundary can use.

If you want to learn more about Boundary, have a look at the HashiCorp Developer website on Boundary, which houses a ton of documentation and more tutorials.

You can also see Boundary in action on the HashiCorp YouTube channel.



About HashiCorp

HashiCorp is a leader in multi-cloud infrastructure automation software. The HashiCorp software suite enables organizations to adopt consistent workflows and create a system of record for automating the cloud: infrastructure provisioning, security, networking, and application deployment. HashiCorp's portfolio of products includes Vagrant[™], Packer[™], Terraform[®], Vault[™], Consul[®], Nomad[™], Boundary[™], and Waypoint[™]. HashiCorp offers free community source-available products, enterprise products, and managed cloud services. The company is headquartered in San Francisco, though most HashiCorp employees work remotely, strategically distributed around the globe. For more information visit hashicorp.com